STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUL 22 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

FELIX KOTOWSKI,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000842

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence seized by law enforcement after officers conducted a "knock and talk" without reasonable suspicion in violation of Appellant's right to privacy under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution and State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015)?

2.

Did the court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence seized by law enforcement when officers conducted a protective sweep of a residence where Appellant was an overnight guest without exigent circumstances and without a warrant in violation of Appellant's Fourth Amendment rights?

3.

Did the court err by admitting evidence of alleged pseudoephedrine purchases obtained by law enforcement from the National Precursor Log Exchange (NPLEx) since (1) the evidence is hearsay and the state failed to establish a sufficient foundation to satisfy the business records exception to the hearsay rule, (2) the testimony violated Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation because the state failed to present testimony from a records custodian at Appriss or a representative of the pharmacy where the pseudoephedrine was allegedly purchased, and (3) the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on March 16, 2015 for manufacturing methamphetamine and possession of less than one gram of methamphetamine. R. 313. His case was called to trial on December 7, 2015 before the Honorable Maite Murphy, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Kyle Ward and Sheila Mims represented the state, and James Falk represented Appellant. R. 1.

On December 9, 2015, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 291, ll. 3-11. Judge Murphy sentenced him to seven years' imprisonment for manufacturing methamphetamine and three years concurrent for the possession offense. R. 296, ll. 2-8.

On December 18, 2015, Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial. R. 297. On January 22, 2016, the state filed a Response to Defendant's Motion for New Trial. R. 303. By order filed March 30, 2016, Judge Murphy denied the motion. R. 309.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant moved pretrial to suppress evidence seized in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights and his right to privacy under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution after the police conducted a “knock and talk” without reasonable suspicion and later conducted a protective sweep of the residence where Appellant was an overnight guest without exigent circumstances and without a warrant.

Facts Developed During the Motion to Suppress

On June 13, 2014, Sergeant Frank Thompson of the Dorchester County Sheriff’s Office received an anonymous tip over the telephone from an *unknown* person who said he “heard about a possible drug house at 111 Marsh Point Drive [sic].” Thompson admitted the unknown tipster provided “very little information.” The man “just overheard people talking about that address and really didn’t have anything to go on.” R. 25, ll. 18-24; R. 44, ll. 4-11.

As a result of the vague tip, Thompson entered the address into the National Precursor Log Exchange (NPLEx), which is a log used by pharmacies and law enforcement to track sales of pseudoephedrine. R. 25, l. 24 – 26, l. 1; R. 27, ll. 2-7. Thompson explained that, under South Carolina law, when an individual purchases pseudoephedrine, he or she is required to provide a government issued picture identification card. He continued, “The pharmacist that is filling the order runs the license through a machine or enters the information manually which captures your name, your date of birth, . . . and your address, and the log will say, yes, you can make a purchase or no, you can’t make a purchase depending on if you have exceeded the amount set by the state which is nine grams in 30 days.” R. 28, ll. 2-11.

When Thompson entered the address provided by the *unknown* tipster, several names “popped up,” including Michelle Vining, who was the “homeowner,” and Brian Edwards, who

had previously used the address.¹ According to Thompson, Vining and Edwards had purchased a “substantial amount” of pseudoephedrine in the past, which led him to believe there was possibly “something more to this complaint.”² R. 28, l. 19 – 29, l. 7. Consequently, Thompson added a “watch” through NPLEx so that anytime Michelle Vining or someone else using that address purchased pseudoephedrine he would be alerted. R. 30, ll. 4-13.

Thompson “also did some spotty surveillance” at the residence. He said he drove by the house “a couple times.” On June 26, 2014, Thompson claimed he saw a vehicle belonging to William Cherry parked at the home. Thompson said he was familiar with Cherry and knew that Cherry’s father had previously been convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine. R. 30, ll. 13-25; R. 43, ll. 19-25.

On October 29, 2014, which was over four months after Thompson received the vague anonymous tip, he claimed he received an alert from the NPLEx “watch list” that Michelle Vining had attempted to purchase pseudoephedrine, but the purchase was “blocked” because she had exceeded the amount she was legally allowed to purchase that month. According to Thompson, Vining had attempted to purchase 2.4 grams of pseudoephedrine at Walgreens at 9:11 pm that night and, after that purchase was blocked, she later purchased 1.2 grams at CVS

¹ Sergeant Thompson claimed Michelle Vining was the “homeowner” in passing during his testimony. R. 28, ll. 24-25. However, the record is unclear regarding whether she actually owned the home or was merely renting the residence.

² Thompson later stated Vining had made a single purchase of pseudoephedrine in March 2014, two purchases in April 2014, and two purchases in May 2014. R. 46, ll. 6-9. Without providing any explanation as to why, Thompson supposedly considered this to be a “substantial amount of purchases.” R. 29, ll. 4-5.

at 9:27 pm.³ He said she was permitted to purchase the lesser amount because it was within her nine gram monthly allowance. R. 31, ll. 12-22.

Thompson later disclosed that Vining did not purchase any pseudoephedrine during the summer months that followed the tip, specifically, June, July, and August of 2014. R. 44, l. 25 – 46, l. 25. However, she allegedly purchased pseudoephedrine multiple times in September 2014 and October 2014. R. 61, l. 23 – 62, l. 3.

Based on the extremely vague and unreliable tip containing third party information that Thompson received from the unknown caller on June 13, 2014, the fact that a car belonging to William Cherry, whose father was supposedly convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine, was parked outside the residence on June 26, 2014, and Vining's attempted purchase that was "blocked" and ultimate purchase of pseudoephedrine over four months later on October 29, 2014, Thompson decided to conduct a "knock and talk" at Vining's house at 111 Marsh Pointe Road. R. 33, ll. 8-10; R. 49, ll. 4-14.

The following day, October 30, 2014, Sergeant Thompson, Detective Brandon Allen, and Detective Daniel Lundberg, all of the Dorchester County Metro Narcotics Unit, drove to the house. All three, who are undercover officers, "were dressed out with police paraphernalia, Sheriff's Office." Thompson and Allen approached the front door while Lundberg walked around to the right side of the house where he could view the backyard in case any occupants of the home attempted to flee during the "knock and talk." After Thompson knocked on the door, he claimed he saw someone inside the home look through the blinds on a downstairs window to

³ Thompson consistently claimed that Vining attempted to make two separate purchases of 2.4 grams of pseudoephedrine at Walgreens at 9:11 pm and that both were blocked. However, he admitted that these attempts were made *fifteen seconds* apart, meaning it was likely that the same cashier had simply entered the information into the log twice for whatever reason. R. 31, ll. 13-18; R. 47, l. 16 – R. 48, l. 16.

the right of the door. He asked the person to come to the door. When he received no response, Thompson continued to knock on the door. Detective Lundberg, who was still standing on the right side of the house, claimed he then saw someone remove a fan from an upstairs window and close the window. Thompson continued to knock. He explained, "So I knocked on the door again and *the person* had moved to the left of the door" and looked through an upstairs window. Finally, after these three separate observations and repeated knocking, Appellant answered the door, came outside, and closed the door behind him. R. 33, l. 11 – R. 35, l. 19 (emphasis added).

Sergeant Thompson claimed that when Appellant came outside, he "was immediately overwhelmed with the odor of ammonia." According to Thompson, the smell was coming from Appellant's clothes and person. He claimed the alleged odor "set a light off for" him because he knew "methamphetamine cooks using a one pot method" create ammonia gas. He therefore suspected "there might have been a lab going on inside." R. 35, l. 20 – 36, l. 2.

Thompson explained that after Appellant identified himself, he asked Appellant "if he lived there. He said he did not. I asked if Michelle Vining was home. He said she wasn't. I asked who he was here with. He told me only his girlfriend Lisa. I asked him to have Lisa come outside." R. 35, ll. 3-13. Based on Thompson's request, Appellant called inside to Lisa several times and, when she did not respond to his calls, Appellant eventually went inside the house to get her. When Appellant reentered the house, Thompson made him leave the front door open. R. 36, ll. 13-18.

After Lisa came outside, Thompson took her to the end of the driveway. Lisa told Thompson that she lived at the home and later admitted that she was actually Michelle Vining. Thompson informed Vining that he and the other detectives "were there because of a tip of drug

activity” and that he “believed they were manufacturing methamphetamine in the house right at that moment” based on the smell of “ammonia on her boyfriend.” R. 36, l. 19 – 37, l. 11. However, when asked, Vining refused to consent to a search of the residence. Thompson claimed that when he asked “her if anybody else was inside the house,” Vining “was pretty deceptive about her answer” and was “kind of hem hawing.” R. 37, ll. 12-21.

After Vining refused to consent to a search of her home, Thompson instructed the other detectives to conduct a protective sweep of the residence. R. 67, ll. 3-8. Thompson testified, “*I believed that something more was going on there* so I told Detective Allen and Detective Lundberg to go inside the house and do a protective sweep and make sure nobody else was inside the house because I saw three different activities at windows and we’ve got two people so to make sure nobody else was inside, to preserve any evidence that was inside there, and also to make sure there was no active methamphetamine lab in progress.” R. 38, ll. 5-12. Despite Thompson’s claim that he believed there may have been other people inside the house, he admitted the “three different activities” that took place inside the home before Appellant answered the door did not occur simultaneously and most certainly could have been done by the same person. R. 53, l. 18 – 54, l. 12. Moreover, Thompson admitted that when Appellant and Vining were detained before the protective sweep, both were patted down for weapons and no weapons were found on their persons. R. 58, ll. 2-7.

Based on evidence the detectives observed in plain view during the protective sweep, law enforcement obtained a search warrant for the house.⁴ Inside, they allegedly discovered

⁴ During the “protective sweep,” the detectives allegedly “encountered a heavy haze or a gaseous atmosphere” and an “overwhelming smell of ammonia” inside an upstairs bathroom. Supposedly, on top of the bathroom counter were several mason jars that had an “unknown liquid” inside. R. 68, l. 22 – 69, l. 13. They also saw some “paraphernalia laying around” in several of the other rooms and “possibly methamphetamine.” R. 71, ll. 1-4; R. 78, ll. 2-16.

evidence of an active methamphetamine lab and actual methamphetamine.

Arguments by Counsel

Citing State v. Counts, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015), Appellant moved to suppress the evidence discovered by law enforcement arguing Sergeant Thompson did not have reasonable articulable suspicion to conduct the “knock and talk” at Vining’s residence. Appellant asserted that the South Carolina constitution offers a higher level of privacy protection than the federal constitution and that law enforcement in this case violated his state right to privacy. R. 96, l. 17 – 97, l. 1.

Counsel initially attacked the validity of the anonymous tip Sergeant Thompson received on June 13, 2014 and Thompson’s efforts to corroborate it. He argued that all Thompson did was drive by the residence and that, while Thompson “made much of the fact that . . . a car owned by the son of somebody who he had arrested in the past was parked there on June 26th,” this fact was insignificant. He emphasized, “Between June 26th and October 29th there is nothing else that corroborates the tip.” R. 94, l. 22 – 95, l. 23.

Counsel argued the court must “consider the time of when some of these other events occurred relative to when the knock and talk happened. The anonymous tip comes on June 23rd [sic], they see the car in the driveway on June 26th, there is nothing else that happens until they get the hit from the NPLeX [on October 29, 2014].” Noting that Thompson received the tip more than three months (it was actually more than four months) before the “knock and talk,” counsel argued the court must consider the “temporal relationship” between the events. He concluded that “a tip that old would be considered stale.” R. 102, l. 24 – 103, l. 12.

Counsel asserted that the only “current information” Sergeant Thompson had was the information from NPLeX regarding Vining’s attempt to purchase pseudoephedrine that was

“blocked” and her eventual purchase on October 29, 2014. He argued the legislature did not intend for “you to be subject to a knock and talk just because you go over the limit on the pseudoephedrine purchase.” R. 103, ll. 12-16. He elaborated, “I do not believe that the intent of the statute . . . is the fact that any time somebody gets a refusal off of the NPLeX, that means that police officers knock on the door. I think that there needs to be something more than that.” R. 96, ll. 12-16.

Lastly, counsel argued that the officers did not have exigent circumstances to conduct the protective sweep of the property. He maintained that the smell of ammonia and the alleged movements inside the house before Appellant answered the door were insufficient to justify a warrantless entry. R. 97, l. 2 – 99, l. 1.

Court’s Ruling

The court found “the anonymous tip on its own” was not sufficient for the officers to conduct a “knock and talk.” However, Judge Murphy found Sergeant Thompson “took steps to corroborate” the tip. She ruled the information Thompson learned from NPLeX in June 2014 regarding “the pseudoephedrine purchases,” the fact that Thompson saw a car belonging to “an immediate family member of someone that has been convicted for manufacturing methamphetamine,” “along with the subsequent activities . . . on October 29th do give rise to reasonable suspicion of illegal activity that warrants the ability to do a knock and talk.” R. 103, l. 17 – 104, l. 21.

In regards to the “protective sweep of the property,” the court found “there were exigent circumstances that warranted it.” Judge Murphy ruled, “The overwhelming smell of ammonia certainly is a potentially dangerous type of situation that would risk not only officer safety but safety of the neighbors if there was to be an explosion and further there was activity which was

described at different windows and the officers did not know for officer safety if there were other individuals located in the residence.” R. 104, l. 22 – 105, l. 5.

Motion for New Trial

On December 18, 2015, Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial based on the violation of his state constitutional right to privacy when Sergeant Thompson conducted the “knock and talk” without reasonable suspicion and based on the violation of his Fourth Amendment rights when the officers subsequently conducted a protective sweep of the residence without exigent circumstances and without a warrant. R. 297. The grounds for Appellant’s post-trial motion were the same grounds he raised pretrial. The state filed a Response to Defendant’s Motion for New Trial on January 22, 2016. R. 303. Judge Murphy ultimately denied the motion by order filed March 30, 2016. R. 309.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by denying Appellant’s motion to suppress evidence seized by law enforcement after officers conducted a “knock and talk” without reasonable suspicion in violation of Appellant’s right to privacy under Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution and *State v. Counts*, 413 S.C. 153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015).

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. “In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures.” *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (citing S.C. Const. art. I, § 10). “In addition to language which mirrors the Fourth Amendment, S.C. Const. art. 1 § 10 contains an express right to privacy: The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and *unreasonable invasions of privacy* shall not be violated.” Id. at 644, 541 S.E.2d at 840-841 (emphasis in original).

In *State v. Forrester*, our Supreme Court concluded, “The South Carolina Constitution, with an express right to privacy provision included in the article prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures, favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.” Id. at 645, 541 S.E.2d at 841. “By articulating a specific prohibition against ‘unreasonable invasions of privacy,’ the people of South Carolina have indicated that searches and seizures that do not offend the federal Constitution may still offend the South Carolina Constitution.” *State v. Weaver*, 374 S.C. 313, 322, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007) (citing *Forrester*, 343 S.C. at 644-45, 541 S.E.2d at 841).

Recognizing that “the privacy interests in one’s home are the most sacrosanct,” our Supreme Court held in State v. Counts “that law enforcement must have reasonable suspicion of illegal activity at a targeted residence prior to approaching the residence and knocking on the door.” 413 S.C. 153, 172, 776 S.E.2d 59, 69-70 (2015).

Applying this rule to the facts presented in Counts, the Supreme Court held law enforcement had reasonable suspicion of illegal activity prior to conducting the “knock and talk” at Counts’ residence. Id. at 173, 776 S.E.2d at 70. The police “received two separate anonymous tips from citizens who alleged that Counts was selling drugs. These tips also identified vehicles driven by Counts, his phone number, and his use of multiple identities.” Id. The police had “confirmed that Counts had two false identification cards on record and had prior drug convictions.” Id. The Court held the specificity of the anonymous tips and the corroboration by law enforcement of the tips indicated “the officers were not randomly knocking on Counts’ door but had reasonable suspicion to support their decision to approach Counts’ residence and conduct the ‘knock and talk.’” Id.

The “reasonable suspicion” language from Counts invokes the standard enunciated by the United States Supreme Court in Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968), where the Court held that in the absence of probable cause for arrest, a police officer may stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes, so long as the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity “may be afoot.”⁵ “The term ‘reasonable suspicion’ requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001).

⁵ In Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438, 440 (1980), the Court explained that before an officer can stop and frisk a citizen, the officer must have “reasonable and articulable suspicion that the person seized is engaged in criminal activity.”

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