ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000842

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

FELIX KOTOWSKI,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main Street, Suite 102
Summerville, SC 29483
(843) 871-2640

RECEIVED

JUL 26 2017
SC Court of Appeals

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

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

Accordingly, not only were the purchases not for the truth of the matter asserted, but contrary to Kotowski’s arguments, the probative value was not outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. The jury could decide for itself the probative value of these two purchases. A trial court’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence will be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003). “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.” State v. Stephens, 398 S.C. 314, 728 S.E.2d 68, 71-72 (Ct. App. 2012) (*quoting* State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct.App.2008)). “All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only **unfair** prejudice which must be [scrutinized under Rule 403].” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 496 S.E.2d

424, 429 (Ct.App.1998) (citations and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added). If the jury considered the purchases as some evidence of guilt, that is not an improper consideration, accordingly, admission of the evidence did not create any danger of **unfair** prejudice.

Additionally, the evidence was admissible under the business records exception. Sergeant Thompson advised the jury about the history and workings of the NPLEx database. Sergeant Thompson explained that in 2005, congress passed legislation requiring any purchase of pseudoephedrine be recorded on a log. Originally the logs were simply maintained at any pharmacy or gas station selling the medication. In 2010, legislation was passed requiring the purchases be captured electronically. Presently, a government issued ID is required, which is either scanned or entered by the pharmacist at the point of sale, and the name, date of birth, and address of the purchaser are entered into the database system, along with the product purchased and purchase amount. Access to this database is limited to law enforcement and pharmacies. Law enforcement is allowed to go into the database, pull records, and make investigative searches. Tr. pp. 170-71:

Sergeant Thompson explained the training he has received in using NPLEx as follows:

The company is called Appriss and they put on this thing called a webinar. Basically it's a training class and not too long ago I was actually asked by one of the people from Appriss to put on one of these webinars where I logged into a computer and gave training on how to use Appriss to all participating states that use it. . . . [P]articipants of the program were able to watch this webinar with me giving training on how to use it.

Tr. p. 171, line 22 – p. 172, line 6.

During cross-examination, Sergeant Thompson explained, “The log speaks for itself. You have to give your ID to purchase the pseudoephedrine. They scan that and make sure the information there is correct and then if you are able to buy it, they make the sale. If you exceed it, they block the

sale so the information is pretty reliable.” Tr. p. 187, lines 8-12.

Sergeant Thompson explained his understanding of how the information is recorded,

You go to the store, you provide the pharmacist, because only the pharmacist can sell it, you provide the pharmacist your ID and then that information – the ID is scanned, the information embedded in your license is recorded and the pharmacist would input the name of this product that you’re wanting to buy and the grams associated with that product.

Tr. p. 189, lines 11-17.

Testimony regarding the purchase history retrieved from the NPLeX database is admissible pursuant to Rule 803(6), SCRE, or S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510. Prior to the promulgation of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, South Carolina adopted S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510, the Uniform Business Record as Evidence Act, which provides:

A record of an act, condition or event shall, insofar as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.

State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 330–32, 652 S.E.2d 409, 423–24 (Ct. App. 2007) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 710 S.E.2d 55 (2011) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510 (1985)).

Rule 803(6), SCRE, adopted in 1995 and modeled after § 19-5-510 and the Federal Rules of Evidence, allows for the admission of records of regularly conducted activity that would otherwise be excluded by the rule against hearsay. Rule 803(6), SCRE, provides that memorandum, reports, records, etc. in any form of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses, are admissible as long as they are:

(1) prepared near the time of the event recorded; (2) prepared by someone with or from information transmitted by a person with knowledge; (3) prepared in the regular course of business; (4) identified by a qualified witness who can testify regarding the mode of preparation of the record; and (5) found to be trustworthy by the court. Ex parte Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 350 S.C. 243, 249-50, 565 S.E.2d 293, 297 (2002), citing Rule 803(6), SCRE; S.C. Code Ann. § 19-5-510.

Both § 19-5-510 and Rule 803(6), SCRE, require evidence about the manner in which records are prepared or the source of information. Rice, 375 S.C. at 331, 652 S.E.2d at 424 (internal citations omitted). Additionally, the business record entries must have been made at or near the time of the act to which they relate in order to aid in establishing the record was honestly and fairly kept. South Carolina Nat'l Bank v. Jones, 302 S.C. 154, 155, 394 S.E.2d 323, 324 (1990).

In the instant case, the requirements for admission as a business record are met. Sergeant Thompson's testimony establishes that pseudoephedrine purchases, by law: (1) are recorded at the time of sale, (2) by a pharmacy employee, (3) in the regular course of business.

Further, Sergeant Thompson was a qualified witness pursuant to § 19-5-510 and Rule 803(6), SCRE, even though Sergeant Thompson was not employed by Appriss or one of the pharmacies where the pseudoephedrine was purchased. See Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. Nat'l Safe Corp., 335 S.C. 635, 642, 518 S.E.2d 44, 48 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding if a witness's testimony conveys information from a person "with knowledge" at the time the records were created, the witness may be deemed qualified to testify despite not being the custodian "at or near the time" the records were made); see also Midfirst Bank, SSB v. C.W. Haynes & Co., 893 F. Supp. 1304, 1310 (D.S.C. 1994) ("Business records of an entity are admissible even though another entity made the records, and the rule does not require an employee of the entity that prepared the record to lay the

foundation.”), *aff'd*, 87 F.3d 1308 (4th Cir. 1996).

Sergeant Thompson’s testimony shows his familiarity with the system, including how data was collected. He testified officers routinely use the database and it is accurate. He explained he taught a webinar at the request of Appriss for other law enforcement officers on how to use the NPLeX database. Accordingly, ample evidence indicates Sergeant Thompson was a qualified witness for purposes of establishing the trustworthiness of the records.

Finally, Judge Murphy found the records trustworthy. Specifically, Judge Murphy found the following:

In accordance to Statute 44-53-398 which deals with the sale of products containing ephedrine or pseudoephedrine basically the statute does delineate the requirements of a retailer which they must go through in order to give a purchaser or to sell to a purchaser such products and basically they say shall require purchaser to produce a government issued photo ID showing the date of birth of the person and require the purchaser to sign an electronic log showing the date and time of the transaction, the person’s name and address, the type of issuing government entity, identification number, the amount of compound, mixture or preparation. The retailer shall also determine [if] the name entered in the log corresponds to the name on the identification, that the date of birth and the address are correct and shall enter the log and the name of the product and quantity sold. The retailer shall ensure that the product is delivered directly into the custody of the purchaser and the log must include notice to purchasers that entering false statements or misrepresentations on the log may subject the purchaser to criminal penalties.

The statute further delineates potential criminal penalties for retailers for not complying with the statute’s requirements. An employee’s duty to accurately report, basically it means that they could be held criminally responsible and criminally reliable [sic] for not accurately reporting into the database.

This Court finds that this requirement pursuant to the statute gives the indicia of trustworthiness based upon the proper foundation being laid by the State [for] the transactions. That would be further corroborated by statute 23-3-1200 which is the SLED electronic monitoring system of the collection and storage of use of this

information. This statute delineates the access to this data which is only to local, state or federal law enforcement official[s] which may be given access to this information. . . .

Tr. p. 164, line 6 – p. 165, line 22.

Judge Murphy’s holding is consistent with the holdings of other jurisdictions addressing the issue. In State v. Hicks, 777 S.E.2d 341 (N.C. Ct. App. 2015), an officer was allowed to testify about NPLEx results showing six pseudoephedrine purchases by the appellant. The North Carolina Court of Appeals noted the officer testified about his knowledge and familiarity with the database. The officer testified, “[Pharmacy employees] are required to log [sic] into the system, CVS for example they scan your ID [and] it goes straight into the system the information does. And then the electronic signature is also put straight into the system.” Id. at 349. The officer testified law enforcement officers, including himself, regularly consult the database to view pseudoephedrine purchases for investigating possible methamphetamine manufacturing. The officer attended training sessions on using the database. The court found the officer “thoroughly demonstrated his understanding of the NPLEx database” and found his testimony provided sufficient foundation for the admission of the computer report from the database to be admitted as a business record. Id.

In Embrey v. State, 989 N.E.2d 1260 (Ind. Ct. App. 2013), the Indiana Court of Appeals rejected appellant’s argument that a person with first-hand knowledge of the pseudoephedrine transactions was required to testify rather than a custodian from Appriss. In reaching that conclusion, the court explained the following:

Business records are an exception to the hearsay rule because they are imbued with independent indicia of trustworthiness. . . . These indicia are that the business establishes a routine of record-making, that the record is made by one with a duty to report accurately, and that the business relies upon that record in carrying out its activities. . . . The

fact that the business record is prepared by a party independent of the business does not negate these factors.

Id. at 1264 (quotation marks and citations omitted). The court found that the NPLeX report admitted into evidence contained the independent indicia of trustworthiness. Id. at 1267.

Kotowski further claims his rights under the confrontation clause were violated. The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment states the following: “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” U.S. Const. Amend. VI. This procedural safeguard is also applicable to state prosecutions. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 42 (2004).

In Crawford, the United States Supreme Court held the Confrontation Clause bars “admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination.” Crawford, at 53-54. Critically, only testimonial statements require compliance with the Confrontation Clause. Id. at 68. Thus, a nontestimonial statement would be admissible, subject to traditional limitations upon hearsay evidence, even though the defendant never had the opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. Id.

The Missouri Court of Appeals rejected an argument that NPLeX records violated the confrontation clause, finding that the NPLeX records are not testimonial in nature. State v. Cady, 425 S.W.3d 234, 245 (Mo. Ct. App. 2014). The Indiana Court of Appeals rejected a confrontation clause claim, finding while “NPLeX records may occasionally be used to establish or prove some fact at trial, that is not the main purpose of the NPLeX records.” Montgomery v. State, 22 N.E.3d 768, 775 (Ind. Ct. App. 2014). Instead, the main purpose is to track and regulate the sale of non-prescription pseudoephedrine and ephedrine sales. Id.

In United States v. Lynn, 851 F.3d 786 (7th Cir. 2017), the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals rejected a claim that NPLeX records violated the confrontation clause, noting the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth circuits likewise came to the same conclusion. Id. at 792. The court concluded that NPLeX records are not created for litigation, but are “regularly maintained and updated each time an individual purchase an over-the-counter cold medicine that includes pseudoephedrine.” Id. at 793. Further, the Seventh Circuit noted state regulatory bodies may have a legitimate interest in maintaining the records beyond their evidentiary value. For instance, requiring identification for pseudoephedrine purchases may deter pseudoephedrine misuse. The Seventh Circuit concluded the records were non-testimonial. Id.

One of the decisions relied upon by the Seventh Circuit, United States v. Towns, 718 F.3d 404, 411 (5th Cir. 2013) noted the purchase logs entered into the database were created to comply with state law and not in response to an active prosecution.

In the instant case, Judge Murphy found the NPLeX records were not testimonial. The court noted that the NPLeX records being testified to are merely compilations of non-criminal data and are more akin to telephone records. Tr. p. 168. In the instant case, the information gathered in the database is not testimonial, but instead represents information compiled by individual businesses seeking to comply with state and federal law for the purposes of tracking legal pseudoephedrine sales.

Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge’s ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The

appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court." (emphasis added)).

In the instant case, Sergeant Thompson's testimony supports admitting the evidence as a business record. Accordingly, Judge Murphy did not err. Further, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Errors are considered to be harmless when they could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003). "It is a rule of practically universal application in appellate procedure that an accused cannot avail himself of error as a ground for reversal where the error has not been prejudicial to him." State v. Hariott, 210 S.C. 290, 298, 42 S.E.2d 385, 388 (1947). When a review of the entire record establishes an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court should not reverse a conviction. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial).

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